

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Walden, Günter

Article

Short-term and long-term benefits as determinants of the training behaviour of companies

Zeitschrift für ArbeitsmarktForschung - Journal for Labour Market Research

Provided in Cooperation with: Institute for Employment Research (IAB)

Suggested Citation: Walden, Günter (2007) : Short-term and long-term benefits as determinants of the training behaviour of companies, Zeitschrift für ArbeitsmarktForschung - Journal for Labour Market Research, ISSN 2510-5027, Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung (IAB), Nürnberg, Vol. 40, Iss. 2/3, pp. 169-191

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/158658

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

Short-term and long-term benefits as determinants of the training behaviour of companies^{*}

Günter Walden

This paper adopts an economic perspective for an investigation of the correlation between cost-benefit aspects and company decisions regarding training. A differentiation is drawn between the basic decision about whether a company should provide its own training and the stipulation of the number of trainees. The basis of the data used is information on the cost-benefit aspects of training from a survey conducted by the Federal Institute for Vocational Education and Training in 2001, the information being supplied by companies which provide training and companies which do not provide training. It becomes apparent that cost-benefit aspects are highly significant in both phases of the company training decision. Possible starting points for vocational education and training rather than from increasing the number of training places at companies already providing training, however. In overall terms, longer-term benefits appear to be accorded more importance than short-term cost aspects.

* This paper was released for publication in July 2007.

Contents

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Research question: company training decisions as a consideration of costs and benefits
- 3 Empirical basis and operationalisation
- 3.1 Data record
- 3.2 Analytical variables included
- 4 Results of the analyses
- 4.1 On the potential amount of training costs for companies not providing training
- 4.2 The decision for or against training
- 4.3 Stipulation of the number of trainees
- 4.4 Comparison of results with analyses of company vocational education and training in Switzerland
- 5 Conclusion and possible implications for vocational education and training policy

Bibliography

Annex

1 Introduction

Recent times have seen a significant decline in the number of newly concluded training contracts in Germany (cf. Federal Ministry of Education and Research 2006). Having reached its highest level of 631,000 in 1999, the figure decreased in subsequent years. In 2006, the number of newly concluded training contracts was 576,000 (representing an increase compared to 2005). The debate on the possible causes of the reduction in training focuses mainly on the following aspects.

Reference is firstly made to the direct dependency of company training on the employment system. Extensive cuts in employment of the kind which have taken place in recent years have necessarily resulted in direct negative implications for training (cf. Walden 2005: 102 ff.). Empirical analyses on the interdependency of employment and training development for the period 1996-2005 also indicate a clear statistical correlation in this area (cf. Ulrich/Eberhard/Krewerth 2006: 16ff.). Within the debate on the causes of the decline in training, attention is also drawn to shifts which have taken place within the economic structure. The fact that company training in Germany has traditionally had its roots in the manufacturing industry means that the increasing shift towards the tertiary sector of trade and industry tends to have negative effects on training. Analyses on the ramifications of sectoral shifts conducted in this field have produced a variety of results (Plünnecke/Werner 2004; Troltsch 2005). A third and final strand of the discussion centred on identifying an explanation for the decline in company training postulates a crisis in the system, the argument being that the development towards a knowledge society tends to lead to changes in skills requirements and recruitment strategies within the companies, resulting in the increased replacement of workers who have completed vocational training by higher education graduates (e.g. Baethge/Solga/ Wieck 2007, in particular pp. 73 ff. and Euler/Severing 2006: 22 ff.).

Cost-benefit¹ aspects have also played a significant part in the debate surrounding opportunities for bringing about an increase or stabilisation in companies' readiness to provide training. Decreases in training allowances in particular are often recommended as a way of creating greater levels of incentive for the company (cf. e.g. FAZ 2006). The aim of this paper is thus to investigate the correlation between cost-benefit aspects and company decisions regarding training. Since only cross-sectional data are available, the time series of training activities can not be taken into consideration. Irrespective of potential reasons referenced for the decline in training, however, cost-benefit aspects could in general terms constitute an important starting point for education policy measures.

2 Research question: company training decisions as a consideration of costs and benefits

If company training is viewed from an economic perspective, the company has incentives to provide training only if the total benefits gained from training exceed the costs arising. Dietrich/Koch/Stolpe (2004) state that economic profitability is an essential prerequisite for company training. In terms of a company decision-making calculation, however, a basic differentiation between two possibilities needs to be made at this point. The first possibility is that training costs can be covered by the productive deployment of the trainees during the training itself. In such a production model case (Lindley 1975), employing trainees as workers (and as a replacement for regular workers earning a higher level of remuneration) may constitute an essential motive for providing training.² Companies pursuing this model in providing training represent a short-term benefits perspective with regard to training. The second possibility is that it is not possible to cover training costs during the training phase itself. In such a case, training is only worthwhile for a company if the trainees enter into an employment contract on completion of training, allowing the internalisation of further benefits. This would constitute the so-called investment model, in which companies pursue a longer-term benefits perspective.

Overall costs arising during training have been designated as gross costs since the fundamental investigation conducted by the "Commission of experts on costs and financing of vocational education and training" (1974). Subtracting from this the returns generated from the productive work carried out by trainees gives us the so-called net costs:

$$G - R = NC \tag{1}$$

In a typical ideal case and depending on whether the production or investment model is being pursued, training is worthwhile for a company if

¹ This paper treats the terms 'returns' and 'benefits' as synonyms.

² In addition to the operational deployment of the trainees, an enhancement of the public image or reputation of companies may also result in a further benefit of training for the company, thus improving a company's position on the external labour market (Sadowski 1980). Such benefits may be both short-term and long-term in nature.

$$NC < 0 \tag{2}$$

or

$$LR > NK$$
 (3)

- G = Total gross costs over the entire period of training
- R = Total returns over the entire period of training

NC = Total net costs

LR = Net present value of the long-term returns resulting from training after completion of training.

Longer-term returns from training result from employment advantages and from the permanent employment of skilled workers trained by the company itself. Aspects particularly worthy of mention here are cost savings compared to recruiting skilled workers via the external labour market, productivity benefits compared to externally recruited skilled workers and the avoidance of recruiting the wrong workers, fluctuation costs and production downtime costs (shortfall in production due to a lack of skilled workers, cf. Beicht/Walden 2004: 36 ff.).

According to the classical theory of human capital (Becker 1964), which assumes that labour is paid in line with its marginal product, companies are only afforded the opportunity of achieving longer-term returns to the extent to which specific human capital can be trained. In general human capital terms, any higher level of productivity generated by trained workers within a company would need to be passed on to them in the form of higher remuneration. Company vocational education and training in Germany probably represents a mixture of the training of general and specific human capital. To all intents and purposes, given the fact that the assumption of perfect competition which underlies classical human capital theory is unlikely to be found in reality, general human capital also provides the potential for companies to realise longer-term benefits from training. Both, theoretical analyses (Acemoglu/ Pischke 1998 and Acemoglu/Pischke 1999) and empirical work (such as Beicht/Walden/Herget 2004; Schøne 2006), have demonstrated this.

The subject of the significance of cost-benefit aspects for company readiness to provide training within the dual system of vocational education and training in Germany has been addressed in a series of theoretical works (cf. most notably Kempf 1985; Niederalt 2004). Empirical analyses of the determinants of company training behaviour have also been conducted (e.g. Neubäumer/Bellmann 1999; Niederalt 2005), although these have not been able to model cost-benefit aspects explicitly. In an analysis

of the German training places market, Neubäumer (1999) was able to draw on aggregate data on training costs. Although work has also been conducted both on the amount of costs and benefits involved in training in general terms (Beicht/Walden/Herget 2004) and on a case study basis (Hansjosten 2000; Grossmann/Meyer 2002), a broadly based empirical analysis of the correlation of cost-benefit aspects and company readiness to provide training in Germany using micro data has not hitherto been conducted. The aim of the present paper is to close this gap.

Research on the fundamental correlations between company readiness to provide training and training costs has recently been conducted for Switzerland on the basis of enterprise survey data (Wolter/Mühlemann/Schweri 2006 and Mühlemann et al. 2005). In considering the situation in Germany, the present paper takes its lead from this work in terms of its methodological approach and compares the results for Germany with those obtained in Switzerland. In contrast to the Swiss analysis, this paper also includes aspects of longer-term returns from training alongside training costs, the focus of attention being the issue of what role can be ascribed to short-term and long-term benefits in explaining company training behaviour.

When analysing company training decisions, it is necessary to differentiate between two phases: the basic decision about whether a company should provide its own training at all and the stipulation of the number of trainees. Since it is not possible to exclude the fact that the significance of the individual factors may vary within these phases, each decisionmaking situation needs to be investigated separately (cf. Niederalt 2005: 5). Economic objectives are used as a starting point to formulate a standardised hypothesis of the effects produced:

The lower the net training costs are, the greater the tendency will be for companies to initiate their own training, and lower net training costs will also result in a larger number of people being trained. A positive effect on the fundamental decision to provide training and the stipulation of the number of trainees is assumed for the long-term benefit.

3 Empirical basis and operationalisation

3.1 Data record

The data used for the analysis originate from two parallel surveys of companies providing training and

companies not providing training which were conducted by the Federal Institute for Vocational Education and Training (BIBB) in 2001 (cf. in the following Beicht/Walden/Herget 2004).³ A total of 2518 companies providing training were questioned as to the costs and benefits of their own training. This was supplemented by a survey of 463 companies not providing training on the reasons why they chose not to provide training and on the potential benefits of providing their own training. The latter survey used the same scales as deployed in the survey of companies providing training.

The survey of companies providing training focused on individual training occupations, 52 being selected. The sampling procedure took place by random selection with the Chambers of Industry and Commerce and the Chambers of Crafts and Trades. For the companies not providing training, the operational data of an address management company was used to make a random selection stratified by company size. The survey of companies providing training took place orally, the survey of the companies not providing training.

A highly differentiated set of instruments was used to record training costs in the relevant survey. Since only very few companies in Germany are in a position to provide direct information on the extent of their training costs, the approach adopted placed a much greater emphasis on recording individual relevant cost components as quantitative and value indications and using a standardised cost model to convert these into cost items rather than making straight enquiries about the overall level of cost. The set of survey instruments used goes back to that developed by the first cost survey conducted in Germany in the 1970s, the "Commission of experts on costs and financing of vocational education and training" (1974). A similar approach was also adopted by the Federal Institute for Vocational Education and Training when conducting cost surveys in the 1980s (including Noll et. al. 1983) and in the 1990s (Bardeleben/Beicht/Fehér 1995).

The costs of training were calculated by the Federal Institute for individual training occupations and as costs per trainee and year respectively.

3.2 Analytical variables included

Short-term benefit: the net costs of training

The net costs per trainee and year are included in the analysis. The net costs represent an indicator of the short-term benefit of a course of training. The lower the costs, the higher the short-term benefit all other things being equal.

In surveys undertaken to record the costs of company training for Germany, a differentiation is made between the concepts of full costing and direct costing (cf. Beicht/Walden/Herget 2004: 21 ff.). Full costing allocates a proportion of all costs to company training, including both variable and proportionate fixed costs. This means that costs which a company would incur even if it did not provide training are also allocated to company training. The costs of part-time training staff particularly need to be mentioned here. This is a group of people primarily responsible for fulfilling other duties in their capacity as skilled workers or management staff. In many companies, the instruction of trainees takes place in a manner which is integrated into the working process, the courses of instruction being organised in such a way that as few restrictions as possible result for productivity on the part of those workers involved in training duties. In the last survey on training costs conducted by the Federal Institute for Vocational Education and Training (Beicht/Walden/ Herget 2004: 27), companies were asked how high the productivity of part-time trainers was compared to employees not involved in training. Only a few companies estimated the productive work of their part-time trainers to be noticeably less than that of the other skilled workers (Beicht/Walden/Herget 2004: 27). Using full costing would thus lead to an overestimation of the actual cost burden on companies conducting their own training. For this reason, the Federal Institute additionally calculated direct costs, which do not include the costs of part-time training staff and the part-time administration of training (Beicht/Walden/Herget 2004: 25 ff.). Direct costs provide a more realistic measure of the actual cost burden on companies shown by the results of the survey conducted by the Federal Institute and thus tend to be more relevant to a decision on training than full costs. In terms of identifying a relevant value, the present paper places the main emphasis on direct costs. All analyses are, however, also calculated on the basis of full costs.

Long-term benefit

As far as longer-term benefits are concerned, company evaluations of the advantages provided by company training are used. In each case, a scale of 1 (very important) to 5 (completely unimportant)

³ All analyses of statistical correlations are based on unweighted data. Extrapolated structural characteristics were calculated using

data records weighted according to economic branches and company size classes.

was used. The values were recoded for the analyses to make higher values on the scale represent a higher level of benefits. The following individual aspects were considered (cf. also Walden/Beicht/Herget 2002):

- Obtaining skilled workers when there is a shortage of qualified staff on the labour market
- Saving recruitment costs on the labour market
- Saving higher introductory training costs for skilled workers coming from outside the company
- Training young workers precisely in line with company requirements
- Avoiding the risk of recruiting the wrong employees, always present when recruiting skilled workers from outside the company
- Providing an opportunity to select "the best" when offering trainees employment on completion of training
- Avoiding high staff turnover by obtaining skilled workers who feel a particular association with the company.

Multicollinearity problems meant that the values of the individual indicators were not included in the statistical analyses, a factor analysis was therefore carried out for the indicators.⁴ Only one factor turned out to have an eigenvalue of greater than one (3.76), this factor accounting for 53 % of total variance. All of the other factors extracted had an eigenvalue of less than one. This result shows that there is a strong level of correlation between the individual aspects and that these may be of considerable relevance to general, longer-term benefit orientation. In the analyses conducted for this paper, the factor values were either inserted for the first factor or an overall indicator was formed from the values of all the items. The results of the variations using the overall indicator were largely identical with the results from the inserted factor values, so only the results based on the factor value are presented. A series of alternative variations was also tested, integrating one item each time. Further supplementary details of this are provided in the presentation of the results of the statistical analyses where there is evidence of specific characteristics.

Control variables

Further company characteristics determining the general conditions underlying company training

were included alongside the central analytical variables. These additional variables are company size, the economic branch,⁵ location in former East or West Germany, training field, the length of time a company has been in existence, the status of the company (stand-alone company, part of a group, headquarters of a group, branch or subsidiary and other) and the share of skilled workers (proportion of employees who have completed an apprenticeship).⁶ All the above features may be assumed to influence the starting situation for training decisions made by companies. These variables therefore control the analysis of cost-benefit aspects.

4 Results of the analyses

4.1 On the potential amount of training costs for companies not providing training

Evaluations of the longer-term benefits of training from the company surveys conducted by the Federal Institute for Vocational Education and Training are available for both companies providing training and companies not providing training. The same does not apply to the costs of training which, by their very nature, can only be calculated for companies providing training. For this reason, an initial evaluation of the (probable) training costs of companies not providing training is undertaken within the framework of a "sample selection model".⁷ Two partial models need to be differentiated here. A selection or probit model is used to estimate the extent of the probabil-

⁴ Principal components analysis.

⁵ Analyses conducted previously (cf. Beicht/Walden/Herget 2004: 113 ff.) have shown that training costs vary strongly according to training occupations. Since no information on a potential training occupation is available for companies which have hitherto not provided training, affiliation to an economic branch was taken as a proxy variable. A differentiation was made between a total of 29 economic branches. In the case of the analyses conducted solely on the basis of companies providing training, information on the training occupation or occupational group was used instead of the economic branch.

⁶ Cf. for example the selection of variables in the analysis conducted by Niederalt (2005).

⁷ A maximum likelihood estimation of a selection or probit model (company providing training versus company not providing training) and of a regression model for the evaluation of the net costs was made. Both models were evaluated simultaneously. The disturbance variance of the probit estimation and the ratio of the covariance of the disturbance terms of both estimations and of the disturbance variance of the probit estimation (rho) are taken into the regression analysis. The greater the deviation of rho from zero, the greater the extent of selectivity. For the estimation of selection models generally cf. Greene 2003: 780ff. and in respect of the specific approach adopted particularly Mühlemann et al. 2005: 8 and Wolter/Mühlemann/Schweri 2006. The authors in question have conducted their own evaluations on the basis of data from Swiss companies. For more detailed information on the Swiss database cf. Schweri et al. 2003.

ity that affiliation to the group of companies providing training or to the group of companies not providing training is determined by a series of relevant independent variables. The factors used here are those named above as representing the essential general conditions for company training decisions: company size, the economic branch, location in former East or West Germany, training field, the length of time a company has been in existence, the status of the company and the share of skilled workers. The information obtained flows into a regression evaluation of the training costs applying to all companies (irrespective of whether they provide training or not). A normal regression evaluation also conducted in respect of training costs only for companies that actually have cost values available can be described as selective to the extent that only information for companies providing training is available and the influence of the relevant variables only applies to companies providing training. The inclusion of the information from the probit estimation on the systematic differences between companies providing training and companies not providing training corrects this selectivity. The results from this expanded regression analysis are then used to calculate appropriate values which a company not providing training would have, if it were to provide training. This therefore represents an estimation of the training costs of companies not providing training on the basis of the available information in the data records on the costs of companies providing training and the existing differences in terms of the individual relevant variables between companies providing training and companies not providing training. Only the variables company size, economic branch, location in former East or West Germany and training field were included in the regression evaluation for the costs, as the exertion of an influence on the amount of costs by the other features did not appear plausible.

Table 1 presents the results of the regression analyses of training costs (variants for net direct costs and net full costs respectively) without taking selectivity into account. Tables 2a and 2b present the results of the relevant regression analyses taking both selectivity and the results of the underlying probit estimations into account.

Results including direct costs

An initial viewing of the results of the regression analysis without taking selectivity into account (Table 1) shows company size to be a particularly strong influencing factor.⁸ Smaller companies with fewer than 10 employees and up to 49 employees have lower costs than larger companies.⁹ In addition to this, certain economic branches (such as energy and water supply, the chemical industry) have significantly higher training costs, whereas the training costs in other branches (such as agriculture and forestry) are significantly lower. The training field is also of significance. Significantly higher costs are incurred in the field of trade and industry and in the public sector.

The results for the regression analysis where selectivity is taken into account are largely similar. Although there is some weakening of the influence exerted by company size, this remains of overriding significance. The value of the extent of selectivity (rho) of the cost evaluation purely on the basis of companies providing training is thus also of no significance. If the average costs for companies providing training and companies not providing training are calculated on the basis of the regression coefficients, the value for companies not providing training lies at $\notin 2,215$, above that of companies providing training, which is estimated at $\notin 1,628$.¹⁰ Table 3 contains information on the non-weighted actual values for training costs and on estimated values.

Owing to the strong influence exerted by company size (smaller companies have lower training costs) and due to the fact that companies not providing training frequently tend to be smaller companies it is astounding, notwithstanding the theoretical plausibility of the result, that the average value for companies not providing training lies below that of companies providing training. The probable reason for this is that when control of company size takes place companies providing training tend to operate in economic branches where costs are lower, this being demonstrated by a comparison of the cost and probit estimation coefficients. This means that the probability of a company participating in training tends to rise when costs are lower (and vice versa), although the fact that this is overlaid by the counter

⁸ No further differentiation in company size classes above the level of 50 employees was undertaken in light of the fact that the

group of companies not providing training largely falls into the segment of companies employing up to 50 workers and insofar as sample size does not permit any further sub-categorisation.

⁹ The division of company size in question was selected in light of the fact that companies not providing training are only very seldom major companies with 500 employees and upwards. The fact that sample size was therefore too small did not make it expedient to form a separate group of larger companies. The primary reason for the lower costs incurred by smaller companies is that such companies less frequently need to employ full-time trainers. ¹⁰ Both these values are weighted according to company sizes and economic branches. The estimated values for the companies providing training are, of course, not identical with the empirically determined values contained in Beicht/Walden/Herget 2004, where the average value of direct costs for companies providing training is put at \in 2,448.

Results of regression analysis for costs of company training - companies providing training

Variable	Dependen net ful	t variable: costs	Dependent variable: net direct costs	
	Coefficient	z-value	Coefficient	z-value
Constant	7807.534***	6.805	3820.480***	3.847
Company size				
1–9 employees	152.963	0.322	-3358.039***	-8.178
10–49 employees	-768.838*	-1.870	-2991.620***	-8.405
Economic branches				
Agriculture and forestry, fishery	-3813.140***	-3.147	-2120.306**	-2.021
Energy and water supply, mining	857.863	0.587	3635.295***	2.872
Chemical industry, petroleum, plastics, rubber processing	954.396	1.013	1964.988**	2.408
Non-metallic minerals, fine ceramics, glass	-423.114	-0.269	773.613	0.569
Metal production, foundry working, metal working and similar	1024.170	0.966	1144.107	1.246
Engineering, metal engineering, railway engineering, marine engineering, aviation engineering	1462.701*	1.679	2132.522***	2.827
Road vehicle engineering, vehicle repair	-943.530	-0.854	206.932	0.216
Electronics, IT systems, office machines	-885.739	-0.970	-400.677	-0.507
Precision mechanics, optics, watch making	1250.740	1.042	455.552	0.438
Iron, steel plate, metal, toy and jewellery manufacture	-22.581	-0.015	733.735	0.571
Wood working and processing, paper and pulp production/processing	-971.381	-0.971	-1228.408	-1.419
Printing, reproduction	1786.252	1.576	714.422	0.728
Textiles, clothing and leather industry	-7253.784***	-3.768	-4712.340***	-2.828
Food and luxury goods	-1709.089*	-1.901	-2343.428***	-3.012
Construction industry (main construction industry, sub construction work including gas and water installation, central heating and air conditioning engineering, painting and varnishing)	-1421.660*	-1.728	-1200.463*	-1.686
Retail trade (including mail order trade)	-3896.967***	-4.361	-2137.996***	-2.764
Wholesale and foreign trade	-4718.359***	-4.375	-2814.033***	-3.015
Communications and information transmission (including forwarding agencies, courier services)	-1029.941	-0.731	793.776	0.651
Banking and insurance industry	-355.959	-0.391	1421.622*	1.803
Publishing, advertising, print and electronic media, radio and television	-1716.805	-1.307	-2141.503*	-1.883
IT software service providers, technical and IT consultancy	-158.752	-0.162	-1269.219	-1.497
Property and residential property, asset management	-2831.267	-1.002	-2099.111	-0.858
Legal, tax, human resources, finance and business consultancy/investigation	-2678.902**	-2.099	-2189.932**	-1.982
Architectural and engineering companies	-3324.785***	-2.932	-3763.222***	-3.835
Independent doctors' surgeries and other health sector occupations	-178.233	-0.153	-1439.427	-1.427
Catering and hotels	-6025.464***	-5.909	-3303.654***	-3.743
Tourism, sport, fitness, leisure sector	-3671.923***	-2.909	-1047.816	-0.959
Other private services (hairdressing, cosmetics, cleaning industry and similar)	-2985.484***	-2.781	-1656.702*	-1.783
States of former West Germany	3387 289***	9.301	427.088	1.355
Training field				
Chamber of Industry and Commerce (IHK)	3708.495***	3.732	2488.323***	2.893
Chamber of Crafts and Trades (HWK)	420.721	0.420	918.833	1.059
Public sector	1339.189	1.140	2434.935**	2.395

Direct costs $R^2 = 0.19$; Full costs $R^2 = 0.15$ * Significant at the 10 % level; ** Significant at the 5 % level; *** Significant at the 1 % level Reference group: company with at least 50 employees; public services, non-commercial organisation or other economic branch; federal states of former East Germany, liberal professions.

Table 2a

Maximum likelihood selection model for the estimation of net direct costs for all companies

Verieble	Selection model		Regression model	
	Coefficient	z-value	Coefficient	z-value
Constant	1.0128***	2.990	3845.504***	3.160
Company size				
1–9 employees	-1.121***	-7.400	-3055.253***	-5.352
10–49 employees	-0.742***	-5.140	-2746.809***	-6.161
Economic branches				
Agriculture and forestry, fishery	2.007***	2.858	-2310.063*	-1.720
Energy and water supply, mining	0.6579	0.895	3454.225***	3.306
Chemical industry, petroleum, plastics, rubber processing	0.4774*	1.683	1620.128**	2.230
Non-metallic minerals, fine ceramics, glass	-0.218	-0.712	1984.174**	2.161
Metal production, foundry working, metal working and similar	0.617*	1.738	1310.841	1.569
Engineering, metal engineering, railway engineering, marine engineering, aviation engineering	0.457*	1.811	2186.151***	3.265
Road vehicle engineering, vehicle repair	0.238	0.744	-207.405	-0.257
Electronics, IT systems, office machines	0.750***	2.830	-739.063	-0.923
Precision mechanics, optics, watch making	1.119*	1.926	425.094	0.434
Iron, steel plate, metal, toy and jewellery manufacture	0.020	0.066	1101.415	0.801
Wood working and processing, paper and pulp production/processing	0.533*	1.726	-1177.691	-1.405
Printing, reproduction	1.293***	2.989	905.656	0.776
Textiles, clothing and leather industry	0.027	0.076	-4447.803**	-2.075
Food and luxury goods	0.563**	2.178	-2354.437***	-2.622
Construction industry (main construction industry, sub construction work including gas and water installation, central heating and air conditioning engineering, painting and varnishing)	0.292	1.390	-1338.458*	-1.832
Retail trade (including mail order trade)	0.802***	3.335	-2091.724**	-2.103
Wholesale and foreign trade	0.121	0.542	-2499.727***	-2.489
Communications and information transmission (including forwarding agencies, courier services)	0.302	0.973	540.532	0.453
Banking and insurance industry	0.813***	2.963	1315.297	1.537
Publishing, advertising, print and electronic media, radio and television	0.670***	2.639	-1888.656	-1.554
IT software service providers, technical and IT consultancy	1.274***	4.619	-1554.908	-1.637
Property and residential property, asset management	-0.141	-0.404	-1836.702	-0.527
Legal, tax, human resources, finance and business consultancy/ investigation	1.687***	3.930	-2228.415	-1.647
Architectural and engineering companies	0.945***	3.350	-3508.877***	-3.251
Independent doctors' surgeries and other health sector occupations	1.989***	3.831	-1586.752	-1.188
Catering and hotels	0.989***	3.591	-3341.000***	-2.661
Tourism, sport, fitness, leisure sector	1.611***	2.995	-1049.423	-0.938
Other private services (hairdressing, cosmetics, cleaning industry and similar)	0.965***	2.684	-1719.165	-1.463
States of former West Germany	-0.406***	-2.738	179.972	0.482
Training field				
Chamber of Industry and Commerce (IHK)	-0.247	-1.014	2479.296*	2.284
Chamber of Crafts and Trades (HWK)	0.385	1.414	940.138	0.853
Public sector	0.978*	1.718	2183.801	1.764
Years since foundation of company	0.5D-03	0.362		
Status of the company				
Stand-alone company	-0.595***	-3.089	-	-
Part of a group	-0.613***	-2.715	-	-
Headquarters of a group	-0.321	-0.990		_
Share of skilled workers	0.0149***	9.847	_	_
SIGMA (1)	_	-	6152.516**	92.549
RHO (1, 2)	-		-0.057	-0.368
Observations	29	46	24	96
Log likelihood		- 24	124,3	

* Significant at the 10 % level; ** Significant at the 5 % level; *** Significant at the 1 % level Reference group (Selection model): company with at least 50 employees; public services, non-commercial organisation or other economic branch; federal states of former East Germany, liberal professions; branch or subsidiary, other. Reference group (Regression model): company with at least 50 employees; public services, non-commercial organisation or other economic branch; federal states of former East Germany, liberal professions.

Table 2b

Maximum likelihood selection model for the estimation of net full costs for all companies#

	Selectio	n model	Regression model		
Variable	Coefficient	z-value	Coefficient	z-value	
Constant	1.221***	3.610	6465.147***	5.401	
Company size		·			
1–9 employees	-1.138***	-7.595	-356.669	-0.578	
10–49 employees	-0.762***	-5.345	-1039.141**	-2.120	
Economic branches					
States of former West	-0 428***	-2 907	3176 555***	6 843	
Germany	0.420	2.007	0170.000	0.040	
Training field		1			
Chamber of Industry and Commerce (IHK)	-0.242	-0.993	3412.039***	3.286	
Chamber of Crafts and Trades (HWK)	0.422	1.550	444.568	0.415	
Public sector	0.837	1.478	2563.484**	1.995	
Years since foundation of company	0.3D-03	0.252	-	-	
Status of the company					
Stand-alone company	-0.497***	-2.579	-	-	
Part of a group	-0.593***	-2.606	_	-	
Headquarters of a group	-0.240	-0.738	_	-	
Share of skilled workers	0.014***	9.904	_	_	
SIGMA(1)	_	-	7259.241***	95.084	
RHO(1, 2)	_	_	0.111	0.782	
Observations	29	46	24	96	
Log likelihood	-24508,8				

* Significant at the 10 % level; ** Significant at the 5 % level; *** Significant at the 1 % level

Reference group (Selction model): company with at least 50 employees; public services, non-commercial organisation or other economic branch; federal states of former East Germany, liberal professions; branch or subsidiary, other.

Reference group (Regression model): company with at least 50 employees; public services, non-commercial organisation or other economic branch; federal states of former East Germany, liberal professions.

The coefficients for the economic branches are not included for reasons of space.

effect of company size is unlikely to make this correlation immediately apparent in reality. Smaller companies have lower training costs than larger companies, though the probability of the former commencing their own training is also significantly lower. This may be interpreted in the following way: certain prerequisites are conducive to a company's providing its own training and the larger a company is the higher the likelihood is that such prerequisites will be in place. These prerequisites may relate both to entitlement to provide training (human resources and material conditions) and to opportunities to utilise training (such as a demand for skilled workers). The relevant threshold value is likely to differ according to branch and training occupation.

Results including full costs

When the full costs are included, the principal feature of the results of the regression analysis not including selectivity (Table 1) is that although the influence of company size still tends to be exerted in the same direction, this influence is clearly weakened and not significant. The analysis of selectivity (Table 2b) reveals similar results to when direct costs are used. Nor is the value for the extent of selectivity in the regression equation significant. In contrast to the direct costs, hardly any differences are evident in respect of the extrapolated costs for companies providing training and companies not providing training. The costs for companies provid-

Actual values** Estimated values***							
Direct	Direct costs		Full costs		Direct costs		costs
М	S	М	S	М	S	М	S
3,310	7,039	11,287	7,895	3,012	2,928	10,997	2,975

Table 3 Descriptive values for the training costs*

M = Arithmetical means; s = Standard deviation

* Unweighted values; ** Only companies providing training; *** All companies

ing training $(\in 10,330)^{11}$ are even slightly above those of companies not providing training $(\in 9,669)$. These theoretically implausible results indicate, as already pointed out, that the full costs provide only an inadequate reflection of the actual cost burden incurred by companies.

4.2 The decision for or against training

The aim of the following is to analyse the correlation of cost-benefit aspects of training by undertaking an initial investigation of a company's decision for or against commencing its own training.

Low levels of net costs constitute a yardstick for the short-term benefit to be achieved via training and thus represent to this extent only one element for evaluating the overall benefit. Even training involving high levels of training costs may be worthwhile in principle if long-term benefits are correspondingly high. Both benefit components therefore need to be taken into consideration if the decision for or against training is to be investigated. A probit model was estimated (companies providing training versus companies not providing training) in which training costs¹² and the values of the most important factor relating to long-term benefit were included alongside the cause variables contained within the selection model. Different models for direct and full costs respectively were once again calculated. The results are presented in Table 4.

Results including direct costs

An initial observation of the value of training costs confirms the statements which have already been made. Although this value lies only at the threshold of significance, the preliminary indication is, as expected, negative. An overall tendency may therefore be identified to the effect that, when other relevant cause variables are taken into consideration, the likelihood of companies' commencing their own training decreases as costs rise. A clearly higher significance results in respect of the longer-term benefits. The higher companies evaluate the longer-term benefits of training, the higher is the probability that they commence training. As an alternative to the factor values used, variables were calculated including respective individual items. Significant values in the expected direction resulted for virtually all items, the highest z-value being ascribed to the item "Avoiding the risk of making wrong human resources decisions".

In overall terms, the analyses therefore provide clear indications that the (expected) benefits of training influence the decision for or against training accordingly. The assumed hypothesis is generally confirmed both in respect of costs and in terms of longer-term benefits.

Finally, the share of skilled workers also plays a marked role, with the provision of training by companies rising in line with this share. Whereas some investigations reach similar results regarding some aspects of this (Niederalt 2005: 21), others tend to suggest an opposite correlation (Hartung/Leber 2004; Beckmann 2002; Neubäumer/Bellmann 1999). The presumption here is that the respective investigations into the formation of a share of skilled workers also included those who had pursued different training pathways (such as graduates of Universities of Applied Sciences, cf. Niederalt 2005: 14). The fact that the share of skilled workers also determines future requirements for skilled workers makes it particularly plausible that this share exerts a positive effect on participation in training.

 $^{^{11}}$ As in the case of the direct costs, these values naturally do not correspond to the actual training costs of \notin 8,700 as representatively calculated by BIBB.

¹² Actual values were used for companies providing training, estimated values only being deployed in the case of companies not providing training. This makes it possible to avoid multicollinearity problems which would otherwise arise. Implementing the cost values for companies not providing training acquired via a probit estimation into an extended probit estimation is not without its problems in statistical terms. The results should therefore be interpreted with caution and only evaluated as statements on trends.

Probit model 'Companies providing training versus companies not providing training taking cost-benefit aspects into account'

Variable	Taking net full costs into account		Taking net direct costs into account	
	Coefficient	z-value	Coefficient	z-value
Constant	0.989***	3.365	1.190***	4.072
Company size				
1–9 employees	-0.971***	-7.835	-1.012***	-7.983
10–49 employees	-0.712***	-6.446	-0.772***	-6.807
Economic branches				
Agriculture and forestry, fishery	1.985***	5.188	1.850***	4.889
Energy and water supply, mining	0.558	1.306	0.633	1.493
Chemical industry, petroleum, plastics, rubber processing	0.592***	2.634	0.612***	2.741
Non-metallic minerals, fine ceramics, glass	-0.245	-0.903	-0.222	-0.822
Metal production, foundry working, metal working and similar	0.534**	2.095	0.564**	2.220
Engineering, metal engineering, railway engineering,	0.509**	2.491	0.569***	2.803
Pood vehicle engineering, vehicle repair	0.207	1 262	0.275	1 1/1
Floatronice II systems office machines	0.307	1.202	0.275	4.006
Dresision mechanics, antice watch making	1.060***	4.270	1.009***	4.090
Precision mechanics, optics, watch making	1.000	3.093	1.090	0.217
Mood working and processing, poper and pulp	0.088	0.313	0.000	0.315
production/processing	0.809***	3.198	0.758***	3.015
Printing, reproduction	1.503***	4.090	1.569***	4.298
Textiles, clothing and leather industry	0.320	0.956	0.080	0.242
Food and luxury goods	0.862***	3.826	0.792***	3.527
Construction industry (main construction industry, sub construction work including gas and water installation, central heating and air conditioning engineering, painting and varnishing)	0.412**	2.280	0.356**	1.979
Betail trade (including mail order trade)	0.957***	4.664	0.860***	4.218
Wholesale and foreign trade	0.309	1.463	0.189	0.903
Communications and information transmission	0.694**	2.020	0.672**	1.973
(Including forwarding agencies, courier services)	0.770***	0.410	0.011***	0.507
Banking and insurance industry	0.773	3.418	0.811	3.387
television	0.744***	3.089	0.698***	2.910
IT software service providers, technical and IT consultancy	1.237***	5.573	1.234***	5.582
Property and residential property, asset management	-0.058	-0.154	-0.143	-0.378
Legal, tax, human resources, finance and business	1.706***	5.293	1.622***	5.059
Architectural and engineering companies	1 167***	4 420	1 049***	3 988
Independent doctors' surgeries and other health sector	2.113***	5.325	2.118***	5.348
Occupations	1 017***	E 101	1.0.40***	4 500
Catering and notels	1.217	5.191	1.048	4.529
Other private contines /heirdressing	1.745	4.432	1.088	4.299
industry and similar)	1.038***	3.752	0.934***	3.395
States of former West Germany	-0.550***	-4.854	-0.453***	-4.116
Training field				
Chamber of Industry and Commerce (IHK)	-0.358	-1.551	-0.229	-0.996
Chamber of Crafts and Trades (HWK)	0.234	0.946	0.297	1.203
Public sector	1.071***	2.856	1.171***	3.121
Years since foundation of company	0.001	1.191	0.001	1.293
Status of the company				
Stand-alone company	-0.585***	-3.861	-0.591***	-3.911
Part of a group	-0.754***	-4.364	-0.705***	-4.116
Headquarters of a group	-0.412*	-1.720	-0.426*	-1.787
Share of skilled workers	0.014***	10.826	0.014***	10.691
Long-term benefit	0.130***	3.435	0.132***	3.525
Training costs	0.2D-04***	3.819	–0.1D–04*	-1.826

Direct costs Pseudo- R^2 (McFadden) = 0.25; Full costs Pseudo- R^2 (McFadden) = 0.25

* Significant at the 10 % level; ** Significant at the 5 % level; *** Significant at the 1 % level

Reference group: company with at least 50 employees; public services, non-commercial organisation or other economic branch;

federal states of former East Germany, liberal professions; branch or subsidiary, other.

Results including full costs

An alternative variable using net full costs was also calculated for the probit model, although this runs contrary to the result for the direct costs by producing a positive significant coefficient for the full costs. The negative coefficients for the direct costs mean that the positive effect for full costs is caused exclusively by expenditure on part-time trainers, the higher this expenditure, the greater the actual tendency for companies to provide training. This initially implausible result cannot, of course, be viewed in terms of an incentive for providing training in case of higher costs, as it is far more likely to constitute an indication of the human resources prerequisites for conducting training. In order to be able to provide training at all, companies need to have a certain range of availability of part-time staff or time resources. This mass of availability seems to be lower to begin with for companies not providing training, meaning that commencing training fails because human resources prerequisites are not in place. According to the results of the IAB Establishment Panel Survey (EPS), in 2004 44 % of all companies did not have the prerequisites in place to implement training (Federal Ministry of Education and Research 2006: 146).

4.3 Stipulation of the number of trainees

Model approach

Once companies have made a positive decision to provide their own training, they need to stipulate how many trainees they actually wish to train. In the case of a rationally determined training behaviour, this may also be fundamentally based on short-term or longer-term benefits. Since the direction of effect of individual variables differs depending on whether the issue at stake is the basic decision to provide training or the stipulation of the number of trainees, the aim of the following is to include exclusively available information on companies providing training (cf. Niederalt 2005: 5). Due to the direct dependency of the absolute number of trainees on the size of the company, a previously standardised value is observed. The object of the investigation is the socalled training intensity or training rate,¹³ in other words the number of trainees relative to the overall number of employees. Since, for the reasons provided above, it is not proposed to include companies that do not provide training and therefore have a

training rate of zero in the relevant analysis and given the fact that the lower limit of the range of the dependent variable has been truncated and has an upper limit of one, the aim is to base the analysis on a truncated regression model (cf. in general terms Greene 2003: 756 ff. and for the rationale in this specific case Niederalt 2005: 9). Taking the lower and upper distribution limits into account, consistent maximum likelihood estimators can be calculated. The same independent variables¹⁴ are observed as in the probit model on the fundamental provision of training, but information on training occupations can be considered in lieu of economic branches, since only information on companies providing training is required. It is therefore likely that the various training occupations together with the varying demands they make of the curricula to be imparted and the resultant organisational requirements exert a stronger influence on costs than the mere affiliation to different economic branches.

Results including direct costs

Two different regression models have been estimated (Table 5). An initial estimate included company size, and a second estimate did not incorporate company size into the group of variables to be explained.

The initially striking feature of the results of the first regression model is that no significant values are produced either for the training costs or for the indicator of longer-term benefits, meaning that no influence on the training rate in line with the hypothesis can be demonstrated in this model either in terms of short-term or long-term benefits¹⁵ of training. Company size is of significant importance: the larger a company is, the lower the attendant training rate.

Alongside company size class, training in a certain training occupation also plays a part in the level of the training rate. Compared to technical Chamber of Commerce and Industry occupations, for example, higher training rates result for IT occupations, catering occupations and the various craft trades occupations, whereas a tendency towards a lower training rate is demonstrated in respect of companies providing training in administrative occupations in the public sector. In addition to this, significant coefficients are also discernable for other variables which have been included. The fact that the location

¹³ Trainees in relation to employees. The number of trainees has been included in the number of employees.

¹⁴ Other specification models for the determination of training intensity may be found in such studies as Niederalt 2005 and Dietrich/Gerner 2005.

¹⁵ Variants substituting individual long-term benefit items for the factor value used produced similar results.

Truncated regression model for the explanation of the training rate including direct costs

	Mod	lel 1	Model 2	
Variable	Coefficient	z-value	Coefficient	z-value
Constant	-0.124***	-4.591	-0.097*	-2.852
Company size				
1–9 employees	0.357***	18.938	-	_
10–49 employees	0.214***	12.631	_	-
Occupational group				
Commercial Chamber of Commerce and Industry (CCI) occupations	0.030*	1.748	0.104***	4.352
Technical CCI occupations in IT	0.053**	2.076	0.141***	4.047
Commercial CCI occupations in IT	0.075***	2.809	0.165***	4.574
Trade sector CCI occupations	-0.007	-0.278	0.066*	1.788
Catering CCI occupations	0.195***	8.908	0.319***	10.694
Other CCI occupations	0.102***	4.198	0.201***	6.179
Metal and electrical Craft Trades (CT) occupations	0.091***	5.082	0.262***	10.481
Commercial CT occupations	0.085***	3.372	0.189***	5.546
Bricklayer CT	0.048	1.412	0.130***	2.886
CT occupations in sub construction sector	0.072***	3.103	0.256***	8.122
Commercial CT occupations (baker, butcher)	0.087***	3.567	0.222***	6.756
Hairdresser	0.152***	5.285	0.354***	9.301
Other CT occupations (such as dental technician)	0.098***	4.290	0.313***	10.089
Agricultural occupations	0.101***	4.227	0.282***	8.711
Liberal professions: legal assistant and tax clerk	0.087***	3.841	0.259***	8.382
Liberal professions: medical and dental assistant	0.034	1.471	0.201***	6.310
Technical occupations in the public sector	-0.039	-1.104	0.036	0.741
Commercial administration occupations in the public sector	-0.156***	-4.160	-0.195***	-3.668
States of former West Germany	-0.022**	-2.277	-0.009	-0.728
Years since foundation of company	-0.3D-04	-0.428	-0.5D-03***	-4.174
Status of the company				
Stand-alone company	-0.015	-0.973	0.061***	3.005
Part of a group	-0.055**	-2.454	-0.133***	-4.347
Headquarters of a group	-0.018	-0.669	-0.075**	-2.020
Share of skilled workers	0.2D-03	1.275	0.3D-03*	1.695
Long-term benefit	0.003	0.712	-0.011**	-1.990
Net direct costs	0.3D-06	0.426	-0.2D-05**	-2.163

* Significant at the 10 % level; ** Significant at the 5 % level; *** Significant at the 1 % level

Reference group: company with at least 50 employees; public services, non-commercial organisation or other economic branch; federal states of former East Germany, liberal professions; branch or subsidiary, other.

of companies in the states of former West Germany tends to have a negative influence on the training rate is initially surprising, although such a result is in line with official statistics (Report on Vocational Education and Training 2005: 124). The status of the company also has an influence. Companies belong-

	Company size						
	1 to 9 employees	10 to 49 employees	50 to 499 employees	500 employees and over			
Share of companies providing training*	16.9 %	47.5 %	69.9 %	90.7 %			
Training rate (of companies providing training only)*	31.4 %	13.9 %	7.8 %	6.0 %			
Average net direct costs**	€ 542	€ 1,423	€ 3,402	€ 8,176			

Provision of training, training costs and company size

* Source: Employment statistics 2004; ** Weighted values

ing to a group (thus constituting a part of a larger company) tend to have a lower training rate corresponding to the influence of company size. In contrast to the issue of the fundamental provision of training, no significant influence is demonstrated in respect of the explanation of the training rate for the share of skilled workers.

We know from Table 1 that company size exerts a strong influence on the amount of training costs. In addition to this, a regression analysis also conducted using the relevant data and including the indicator value for longer-term benefits as a dependent variable shows a clear correlation between company size and longer-term benefits. The larger the company is here, the more marked are the aspects of longerterm benefits. If company size is also included in the explanatory variables alongside the various beneficial aspects in a regression analysis, the possibility arises that correlations between the cause variables prevent correlations or explanatory components which are actually present from becoming visible. In order to clarify this, an additional regression model was estimated which did not take company size explicitly into consideration. This model produces a significant negative value for training costs and a nearly significant negative value in respect of longerterm benefits. The lower the training costs (in other words the greater the short-term benefit) the higher the training rate accordingly tends to be. On the other hand, a contrary influence may be derived with regard to longer-term benefits. In this respect, companies for which longer-term benefits are more significant tend to have a lower training rate (and vice-versa). In relative terms, (expressed as a proportion of employees), the tendency is therefore towards a lower amount of training when longer-term benefits increase.

In addition to this, separate respective regression analyses were conducted for the classes of company size considered here,¹⁶ although neither the training costs nor the indicator value was shown to be significant in terms of longer-term benefits for any of the groups of companies. The effects measured for the overall sample may therefore be traced back to variances arising beyond company size classes.

The effects described by the two regression models are an expression of the fact that in Germany there is a strong mutual overlapping of company benefit motives for training and the varying institutional conditions as they apply to the individual companies respectively. Company size represents a central element within these varying general conditions under which training takes place. Table 6, which compares information on training and training costs for differing company sizes, illustrates this correlation.

The so-called share of companies providing training, in other words the proportion of companies actually conducting training, increases along with company size. In contrast to this, the training rate of companies providing training falls as company size rises. The larger a company is, the higher training costs tend to be.

Because the organisation of training is easier in smaller companies and owing to the fact that overheads and costs of full-time trainers do not occur until above a threshold value of the number of trainees in absolute terms, smaller companies are fundamentally able to structure training in a more costeffective way. Secondly, the higher level of risk of trainees leaving the company after completion of training make it likely that smaller companies will tend to make the establishment of their own training dependent on the expected amount of training costs. Smaller companies will also be concentrated in oc-

¹⁶ It is not the intention to present individual results here.

Truncated regression model for the explanation of the training rate including full costs

Verieble	Model 1		Model 2	
variable	Coefficient	z-value	Variable	Coefficient
Constant	-0.071*	-2.728	-0.060*	-1.783
Company size				
1–9 employees	0.352***	19.411	-	_
10–49 employees	0.208***	12.739	-	-
Occupational group				
Commercial Chamber of Commerce and Industry (CCI) occupations	0.021	1.242	0.098***	4.163
Technical CCI occupations in IT	0.050**	1.972	0.141***	4.110
Commercial CCI occupations in IT	0.072***	2.746	0.167***	4.704
Trade sector CCI occupations	-0.029	-1.080	0.051	1.398
Catering CCI occupations	0.169***	7.929	0.303***	10.394
Other CCI occupations	0.076***	3.201	0.189***	5.927
Metal and electrical Craft Trades (CT) occupations	0.073***	4.157	0.250***	10.266
Commercial CT occupations	0.060**	2.430	0.175***	5.265
Bricklayer CT	0.034	1.033	0.115***	2.589
CT occupations in sub construction sector	0.051**	2.233	0.245***	7.940
Commercial CT occupations (baker, butcher)	0.066***	2.785	0.212***	6.624
Hairdresser	0.124***	4.383	0.335***	8.954
Other CT occupations (such as dental technician)	0.087***	3.880	0.308***	10.137
Agricultural occupations	0.068***	2.883	0.263***	8.307
Liberal professions: legal assistant and tax clerk	0.061***	2.763	0.245***	8.158
Liberal professions: medical and dental assistant	0.020	0.877	0.197***	6.362
Technical occupations in the public sector	-0.054	-1.551	0.026	0.561
Commercial administration occupations in the public sector	-0.164***	-4.466	-0.203***	-3.868
States of former West Germany	-0.011	-1.175	0.002	0.156
Years since foundation of company	-0.3D-04	-0.365	-0.5D-03***	-4.224
Status of the company				
Stand-alone company	-0.016	-1.116	0.061***	3.079
Part of a group	-0.050**	-2.307	-0.133***	-4.401
Headquarters of a group	-0.020	-0.732	-0.077***	-2.100
Share of skilled workers	0.2D-03	1.399	0.3D-03*	1.690
Long-term benefit	0.003	0.800	-0.011**	-2.111
Net full costs	-0.3D-05***	-6.154	-0.3D-05***	-4.809

* Significant at the 10 % level; ** Significant at the 5 % level; *** Significant at the 1 % level

Reference group: company with at least 50 employees; public services, non-commercial organisation or other economic branch; federal states of former East Germany, liberal professions; branch or subsidiary, other.

cupations or fields in which training costs are correspondingly lower. Given the fact that training costs are lower in smaller companies, and to this extent panies are able to realise a higher training rate. The

the likelihood that training will prove profitable during the period of training itself is greater, such comprofitability of the training they provide is less dependent on whether it is possible to achieve a corresponding longer-term benefit.

Larger companies with higher training costs, on the other hand, tend to be more dependent on achieving further benefits after completion of training. The higher training costs inevitably mean that the number of trainees is strongly oriented towards later opportunities for taking on these trainees permanently or towards the company's own longer-term demand for skilled workers. The negative correlation between longer-term benefits and the training rate comes about because according high significance to longer-term benefits also means that companies need to adapt the number of their training places immediately and directly to the actual demand for skilled workers if training is to be really worth their while. The relevant considerations here are also supported by an additional regression analysis of the share of company trainees taken on permanently. According to this analysis, the increase in company size exerts a clearly positive effect on the share of trainees taken on permanently.

According to these considerations, the influence that company size exerts on the amount of training costs means that it therefore forms a central determining factor of training intensity. If this is taken into consideration, evidence is provided of clear and theoretically plausible effects on the training rate for cost-benefit aspects. Lower costs, or higher shortterm benefit, permit a higher level of training intensity. Higher costs, on the other hand, and the attendant dependency of also having to achieve longerterm training benefits in order to be able to maintain the profitability of training, require a correspondingly careful calculation of the number of trainees and thus result in a lower level of training intensity.

Results including full costs

As for the other analyses conducted, a variant on the basis of net full costs was also calculated for the regression model in order to determine the training rate (cf. Table 7). A clearly negative effect for the full costs results here, even if company size is included in the model equation. The differing results produced when the direct costs are used mean that this is exclusively due to expenditure on part-time trainers. If costs for the part-time trainers are inserted into the regression equation in lieu of the full costs, an even stronger negative effect is produced. Lower costs for part-time trainers thus signalise a positive effect on the training rate. Since it was not possible to observe this effect on direct costs, in

other words those costs directly incurred as a result of training, independently from company size, it is not appropriate to evaluate the relevant facts and circumstances as a causal correlation in the sense of a general positive stimulus in the event of lower costs. These results are far more likely to lend expression to the fact that, all other things being equal, a higher training rate is associated with higher numbers of trainees in a company and that costs for parttime trainers therefore can be distributed ex post over a greater number of trainees, meaning that costs per trainee fall. The fact that the total expenditure on part-time trainers falls only relative to the number of trainees rather than in absolute terms probably means, however, that it is not possible to derive a primary motive for the stipulation of the number of trainees from this.

4.4 Comparison of results with analyses of company vocational education and training in Switzerland

As already mentioned, similar analyses on the basis of data obtained from Swiss companies have been conducted in the recent past (Wolter/Mühlemann/ Schweri 2006 and Mühlemann et al. 2005). In detail, this also involved using a selection model as the basis for estimating the costs of companies not providing training and for evaluating the significance of these costs in respect of the costs of the fundamental provision of training (Wolter/Mühlemann/Schweri 2006 and Mühlemann et al. 2005). The correlation between training costs and the supply of trainees also constituted an object of investigation,¹⁷ but the Swiss analysis did not take longer-term benefits into account. Soley net full costs were taken into consideration for Switzerland, whereby it should be pointed out that narrower plausibility limits were drawn in Switzerland for calculating the costs of part-time trainers (cf. Schweri et al. 2003: 82ff.), meaning that the proportion of full costs accounted for by part-time trainers turns out to be lower than in Germany, all other things being equal. To this extent, the Swiss cost input falls between the full costs calculated for Germany on the one hand and the direct costs on the other.

Notwithstanding the limitations to comparison described above, the intention is to provide a brief description of the commonalities and differences between the German and Swiss results. The first point which needs to be addressed here is the potential training costs calculated for companies not provid-

¹⁷ In contrast to the present paper, the absolute number of trainees was investigated rather than training intensity.

ing training. One fact that should be pointed out initially is that the selectivity of companies providing training in respect of the amount of training costs is significantly higher in Switzerland. The deviations recorded in the average values of the training costs are considerable. In the paper by Wolter/Mühlemann/Schweri (2006), the estimated values for companies providing training are 6,174 Swiss francs, with the figure for companies not providing training reaching 33,478 Swiss francs. A further analysis using the same data puts the costs for companies providing training at 9,453 Swiss francs, with the figure for companies not providing training being estimated at 18,540 Swiss francs (Mühlemann et al. 2005: 10). An important result of the Swiss analyses also related to the influence exerted by company size. Whereas the values observed for companies providing training are lowest in the group of small companies, these small companies would actually have the highest costs according to the results of the regression model taking selectivity into consideration. No such result could be derived for Germany either on the basis of marginal or full costs. The selfselection of companies providing training in respect of the amount of training costs therefore has a clearly lower significance in Germany than is the case in Switzerland.

A highly significant influence of training costs on the fundamental decision to provide training may be derived in Switzerland. The lower the costs, the higher is the tendency for companies actually to provide training accordingly. When including the direct costs, a similar effect could be discerned for Germany, albeit at a lower level of significance.

In respect of the stipulation of the number of trainees and in a similar way to Germany when the direct costs are taken into consideration, the Swiss analyses also fail to show any significant effect for training costs.

The direction of the effects is similar in Switzerland and Germany when direct costs are included for the German companies. This does not, however, apply to the German full costs. Some of the results here were theoretically unexpected. This indicates that the narrower plausibility limits set in Switzerland for the costs of part-time trainers means that the German and Swiss full costs are not directly comparable. In Germany direct costs rather than full costs should be suitable for evaluating the actual cost burden incurred by companies by providing training.

Even if long-term benefits are not included for Switzerland, the results indicate that the influence of costs on the fundamental decision to provide training is more significant than in Germany.

5 Conclusion and possible implications for vocational education and training policy

If a summary is made of the results of the analyses conducted on the significance of short-term and longer-term benefits for company training decisions in Germany, the following aspects need to be highlighted. The question of whether a company provides training or not largely depends whether longer-term benefits are relevant for a company. This does not mean that such longer-term benefits are more important than short-term benefits. What it does mean, however, is that with regard to a company commencing its own training it is important that a longer term-benefit from training arising from the development of young skilled workers is given or perceived in the first place. In addition to this, a theoretically plausible influence of the amount of training costs (direct costs) is demonstrated. The higher the direct costs, the lower the provision of training. The share of skilled workers is of central significance for the provision of training. There are also indications that a minimum level of personnel and time resources for the organisation of training at the workplace must be available if training is to be commenced.

If a company has taken the decision to provide training, the multivariate observation does not initially permit further influences on the training intensity to be determined, either in respect of the direct costs or of longer-term benefits. If company size (as a material influencing factor for both the training rate and the amount of costs) is taken out of the equation, however, the theoretically plausible correlation becomes discernable. Lower direct costs exert a positive effect on training intensity, whereas training intensity is lower for companies which emphasise the long-term aspects of the benefits of training. This applies, however, in general terms only across all company size classes and cannot be isolated from the size of a company. Smaller companies have lower costs and adapt their training behaviour to the general conditions applying. Larger companies, on the other hand, frequently have higher costs and are therefore forced to realise a lower level of training intensity.

Higher training rates per se, for all classes of company size, are associated with lower costs for parttime trainers. This implies only a distribution of expenditure across more trainees rather than a lower level of overall expenditure, however, meaning that it is not possible to derive a direct causal stimulating effect on training. In respect of the suitability of vocational education and training policy measures aimed at increasing the supply of in-company training places, the analyses produce the following indications. In order to encourage additional companies to provide training, the most important thing seems to be to convince companies which have not hitherto provided training of the longer-term advantages of training. A decrease in training costs may also be of significance.

On the other hand, using a decrease in training costs to increase the training intensity of companies already providing training (cf. e.g. Dietrich/Koch/ Stops 2004) appears very difficult in the light of the existing dependencies between costs and company size. Larger companies orient their training strictly towards the later opportunities to take on trainees permanently or towards the long-term demand for skilled workers. Certain decreases in costs would do nothing to alter this. In the case of smaller companies, no precise figure can be put on the relative significance ascribed to the demand for skilled workers versus cost benefits and short-term benefits, although relevant investigations emphasise that the development of young skilled workers is generally the most important motive for in-company training (cf. Troltsch/Krekel 2006), the same also applying to smaller companies. The higher levels of training intensity and lower shares of trainees who are taken on permanently at small companies do not constitute a contradiction in this respect. This means that, because of the higher risk of trained skilled workers leaving the company, smaller companies with a prevailing longer-term interest in training have been compelled in the first place to train a significantly larger number of people than can later be taken on permanently. Relatively low costs facilitate such a strategy, although the question arises as to the extent to which cost decreases in the relevant company segment where costs are in any case low would lead to a further increase in the safety margin in the recruitment of young skilled workers respectively to an increase in the number of training places. A direct positive effect on the supply of training places could only be derived theoretically in such cases where companies are primarily interested in the short-term benefits of training. Nonetheless, an increase in training places induced by cost decreases would not result in additional workers being taken on permanently at a later stage on completion of training. A similar argumentation results from the well-known thesis of the two segments of the German training system (Franz/Soskice 1995 and Neubäumer 1999), although the analyses conducted for the present paper show that these segments do not need to be fully congruent with the scope of application of the production or investment model.

Cost and benefit aspects play a significant role in company training behaviour. Even if a precise quantitative determination of the significance of shortterm and longer-term aspects is not possible within the framework of the analyses conducted, the indication is that investment interest preponderates over short-term production interest.

Bibliography

(The translations of the titles and publications given in italics merely serve as an indication of the content of these German language works)

- Acemoglu, D./Pischke, J. (1998): Why do firms train? Theory and evidence. In: The Quarterly Journal of Economics, February, pp. 79–119.
- Acemoglu, D./Pischke, J. (1999): Beyond Becker: Training in imperfect labour markets. In: The Economic Journal, 109 (February), pp. 112–142.
- Baethge, M./Solga, H./Wieck, M. (2007): Berufsbildung im Umbruch. Signale eines überfälligen Aufbruchs. (Vocational education and training in upheaval. Signals for a new departure which is overdue) Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung, Berlin.
- Bardeleben, R. von/Beicht, U./Fehér, K. (1995): Betriebliche Kosten und Nutzen der Ausbildung. Repräsentative Ergebnisse aus Industrie, Handel und Handwerk. Bundesinstitut für Berufsbildung. Der Generalsekretär (Hrsg.), Berichte zur beruflichen Bildung, Heft 187 (In-company costs and benefits of training. Representative results from trade and industry and the craft trades sector. Federal Institute for Vocational Education and Training. The General Secretary (Ed.), Vocational and Education Training Reports, Volume 187) Bielefeld.
- *Becker, G. S.* (1964): Human Capital. A Theoretical and Empirical Analysis with Special Reference to Education, Chicago.
- Beckmann, M. (2002): Lohnstrukturverzerrung und betriebliche Ausbildung. Empirische Analyse des Acemoglu-Pischke-Modells mit Daten des IAB-Betriebspanels. In: Mitteilungen aus der Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung, Heft 2/2002, S. 189–204 (Wage structure distortion and in-company training. An empirical analysis of the Acemoglu-Pischke model with data from the Institute for Employment Research (IAB) Company Panel. In: Labour Market and Occupational Research News, Volume 2/2002, pp. 189–204).
- Beicht, U./Walden, G. (2004): Kosten-Nutzen-Relationen in der betrieblichen Berufsausbildung. In: Krekel, E./Walden, G.: Zukunft der Berufsausbildung in Deutschland: Empirische Untersuchungen und Schlussfolgerungen. Bundesinstitut für Berufsbildung (Hrsg.), Berichte zur beruflichen Bildung, Heft 273, S. 34–48 (Cost-benefit relations in company vocational training. In: Krekel, E./ Walden, G.: the future of vocational education and train-

ing in Germany: Empirical investigations and conclusions. Federal Institute for Vocational Education and Training (Ed.), Vocational and Education Training Reports, Volume 273, pp. 34–48), Bielefeld.

- Beicht, U./Walden, G./Herget, H. (2004): Kosten und Nutzen der betrieblichen Berufsausbildung in Deutschland. Bundesinstitut für Berufsbildung (Hrsg.), Berichte zur beruflichen Bildung, Heft 264 (Costs and benefits of in-company vocational education and training in Germany. Federal Institute for Vocational Education and Training (Ed.), Vocational and Education Training Reports, Volume 264), Bielefeld.
- Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (2005): Berufsbildungsbericht 2005 (Federal Ministry of Education and Research: Report on Vocational Education and Training 2005), Bonn.
- Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (2006): Berufsbildungsbericht 2006, (Federal Ministry of Education and Research: Report on Vocational Education and Training 2006), Bonn.
- Dietrich, H./Gerner, H. (2005): Theorie im Praxistest. Warum Betriebe in die Ausbildung investieren. In: IAB Forum, 2/05, S. 56–61 (*Theory put to the practical test.* Why companies invest in training. In Establishment Panel Forum (IAB) 2/05, p. 56–61).
- Dietrich, H./Koch, S./Stops, M. (2004): Lehrstellenkrise: Ausbildung muss sich lohnen – auch für die Betriebe. IAB-Kurzbericht Nr. 6, Nürnberg (*The apprenticeship* places crisis: training needs to be worthwhile, including for companies. Establishment Panel Survey (IAB) Brief Report No. 6, Nuremberg).
- Euler, D./Severing, E. (2006): Flexible Ausbildungswege in der Berufsbildung, Manuskript, Nürnberg, St. Gallen (Flexible training pathways in VET, manuscript, Nuremberg, St. Gallen).
- *FAZ* (2006): Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung: Glos: Lehrlingsvergütung einfrieren, Artikel vom 15.7.2006 (*Freezing apprentice training allowances, newspaper article from 15 July 2006*).
- Franz, W./Soskice, D. (1995): The German Apprenticeship System. In: Buttler, F.; Franz, W.; Schettkat, R.; Soskice, D. (Ed.): Institutional Frameworks and Labour Market Performance. Comparative Views on the U.S. and German Economies, London, New York.
- Greene, W. H. (2003): Econometric Analysis, International Edition, Fifth Edition, Upper Saddle River.
- Grossmann, S./Meyer, H. (2002): Berufsausbildung im Dualen System – eine lohnende Investition? (Vocational education and training within the dual system – a worthwhile investment?), Frankfurt/M.
- Hansjosten, H. (2000): Lohnt sich die betriebliche Ausbildung? Eine Studie am Beispiel der DaimlerChrysler AG, München und Mering (Is company training worthwhile? A study using the example of DaimlerChrysler AG, Munich and Mering).

- Hartung, S./Leber, U. (2004): Betriebliche Ausbildung und wirtschaftliche Lage. In: Krekel, E./Walden, G.: Zukunft der Berufsausbildung in Deutschland: Empirische Untersuchungen und Schlussfolgerungen. Bundesinstitut für Berufsbildung (Hrsg.), Berichte zur beruflichen Bildung, Heft 273, S. 111–129 (Company training and the economic situation. In: Krekel, E./Walden, G.: the future of vocational education and training in Germany: Empirical investigations and conclusions. Federal Institute for Vocational Education and Training (Ed.), Vocational and Education Training Reports, Volume 273, pp. 111–129), Bielefeld.
- Kempf, T. (1985): Theorie und Empirie betrieblicher Ausbildungsplatzangebote in der Dualen Berufsausbildung, München (Theory and empiricism of company training places supply in the dual system of vocational education and training, Munich).
- Lindley, R. M. (1975): The Demand for Apprentice Recruits by the Engineering Industry: 1951–1971, Scottish Journal of Political Economy 22/1, pp. 1–24.
- Mühlemann, S. et al. (2005): A Structural Model of Demand for Apprentices, CESIFO Working Paper No. 1417, February.
- Neubäumer, R. (1999): Der Ausbildungsstellenmarkt der Bundesrepublik Deutschland. Eine theoretische und empirische Analyse (*The training places market in the Federal Republic of Germany. A theoretical and empirical analysis*), Berlin.
- Neubäumer, R./Bellmann, L. (1999): Ausbildungsintensität und Ausbildungsbeteiligung von Betrieben: Theoretische Erklärungen und empirische Ergebnisse auf der Basis des IAB-Betriebspanels 1997. In: Beer, D. u.a. (Hrsg.): Die wirtschaftlichen Folgen von Aus- und Weiterbildung, S. 9–41, München, Mering (*Training intensity* and training provision by companies: theoretical explanations and empirical results based on the Establishment Panel Forum (IAB) 1997. In: Beer, D. et al. (Ed.): The economic consequences of initial and continuing training, pp. 9–41, Munich, Mering).
- Niederalt, M. (2004): Zur ökonomischen Analyse betrieblicher Lehrstellenangebote in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland (On the economic analysis of the supply of company apprenticeship places in the Federal Republic of Germany), Frankfurt/M.
- Niederalt, M. (2005): Bestimmungsgründe des betrieblichen Ausbildungsverhaltens in Deutschland, Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, Diskussionspapiere No. 36, Nürnberg (Reasons determining company training behaviour in Germany, Friedrich Alexander University of Erlangen-Nuremberg, Discussion Papers No. 36), Nuremberg.
- Noll, I. et. al. (1983): Nettokosten der betrieblichen Berufsausbildung. Bundesinstitut für Berufsbildung. Der Generalsekretär (Hrsg.), Schriften zur Berufsbildungsforschung, Bd. 63 (Net costs of company vocational training. Federal Institute for Vocational Education and Training.

Günter Walden

The General Secretary (Ed.), Vocational Education and Training Research Reports, Volume 63), Berlin.

- Plünnecke, A./Werner, D. (2004): Das duale Ausbildungssystem. Die Bedeutung der Berufsausbildung für Jugendarbeitslosigkeit und Wachstum. Institut der deutschen Wirtschaft, Köln (*The dual system of vocational education and training. The significance of vocational training for youth unemployment and growth. German Institute for Business Research, Cologne*).
- Sachverständigenkommission Kosten und Finanzierung der beruflichen Bildung (1974): Kosten und Finanzierung der außerschulischen beruflichen Bildung (Commission of experts "Costs and financing of vocational education and training" 1974: Costs and Financing of non-school based Vocational Education and Training).
- Sadowski, D. (1980): Berufliche Bildung und betriebliches Bildungsbudget (Vocational training and the company training budget), Stuttgart.
- Schøne; P. (2006): Determinants and developments of employer provided training: evidence from a wage compressed environment. In: Journal of Vocational Education and Training, Vol. 58, No. 2, June 2006, pp. 237– 254.
- Schweri, J. et al. (2003): Kosten und Nutzen der Lehrlingsausbildung aus der Sicht Schweizer Betriebe (*Costs and* benefits of apprentice training from the perspective of Swiss companies), Zürich, Chur.
- Troltsch, K. (2005): Berufsbildung und Strukturwandel Zum Einfluss wirtschaftsstruktureller Veränderungen auf das betriebliche Ausbildungsstellenangebot seit 1980. In: Bundesinstitut für Berufsbildung: Der Ausbildungsmarkt und seine Einflussfaktoren, S. 71–79 (Vocational Training and structural change – On the influence of economic structural changes on the supply of company training places since 1980. In: Federal Institute for Vocational Education and Training: The training market and its influencing factors, pp. 71–79), Bielefeld.

- Troltsch, K./Krekel, E. (2006): Zwischen Skylla und Charybdis. Möglichkeiten und Grenzen einer Erhöhung betrieblicher Ausbildungskapazitäten. In: Berufsbildung in Wissenschaft und Praxis, Heft 1/2006, S. 12–17 (Between a rock and a hard place Increasing in-company training capacities: opportunities and limits. In: Vocational Training in Research and Practice, Volume 1/2006, pp. 12–17).
- Ulrich, J. G./Eberhard, V./Krewerth, A. (2006): Die Entwicklung auf dem Ausbildungsmarkt von 1992 bis 2005: offene Fragen und Hintergründe der Untersuchung. In: Eberhard, V./Krewerth, A./Ulrich, J. G. (Hrsg.): Mangelware Lehrstelle. Zur aktuellen Lage der Ausbildungsplatzbewerber in Deutschland. Bundesinstitut für Berufsbildung (Hrsg.), S. 5–28 (The development on the training market from 1992 to 2005: open questions and backgrounds to the investigation. In: Eberhard, V./Krewerth, A./Ulrich, J. G. (Ed.): Apprenticeships in short supply. On the current situation of training place applicants in Germany. Federal Institute for Vocational Education and Training (Ed.) pp. 5–28), Bielefeld.
- Walden, G./Beicht, U./Herget, H. (2002): Warum Betriebe (nicht) ausbilden, In: Berufsbildung in Wissenschaft und Praxis, Heft 2/2002, S. 35–39 (Why companies (do not) provide training. In: Vocational Training in Research and Practice, Volume 2/2002, pp. 35–39).
- Walden, G. (2005): Wovon hängt die Ausbildungsbereitschaft der Betriebe ab? In: Bundesinstitut für Berufsbildung (Hrsg.): Wir brauchen hier jeden, hoffnungslose Fälle können wir uns nicht erlauben! Wege zur Sicherung der beruflichen Zukunft in Deutschland, S. 95–109 (On what does company readiness to provide training depend? In: Federal Institute for Vocational Education and Training (Ed.): We need everyone on board and cannot afford hopeless cases! Ways for securing the occupational future in Germany, pp. 95–109).
- *Wolter, S./Mühlemann, S./Schweri, J.* (2006): Why some firms train apprentices and many others do not, German Economic Review, 7 (3), pp. 249–264.

Annex: Overview of the analytical and control variables included

Table A1

As metrically observed variables

	Mean value	Standard deviation
Net full costs	11,287	7,895
Net direct costs	3,310	7,039
Share of skilled workers	67.8	28.2
Years since foundation of company	44.9	65.2
Long-term benefits* (items)		
Obtaining skilled workers when there is a shortage of qualified staff on the labour market	2.0	1.1
Saving recruitment costs on the labour market	2.9	1.2
Saving higher introductory training costs for skilled workers coming from outside the company	2.6	1.2
Training young workers precisely in line with company requirements	1.9	0.95
Avoiding the risk of recruiting the wrong workers, always present when recruiting skilled workers from outside the company	2.4	1.1
Opportunity to select "the best" when offering trainees employment on completion of training	2.2	1.1
Avoiding high staff turnover by obtaining skilled workers who feel a particular association with the company	2.3	1.1

* Items from 1 = very important to 5 = completely unimportant.

The values were recoded for the analyses.

Table A2

Nominally scaled variables: frequency distributions

	%
Company size	
1 to 9 employees	31.3
10 to 49 employees	34.4
50 employees and more	34.3
Economic branch	
Agriculture and forestry, fishery	3.1
Energy and water supply, mining	1.1
Chemical industry, petroleum, plastics, rubber processing	4.1
Non-metallic minerals, fine ceramics, glass	1.3
Metal production, foundry working, metal working and similar	2.7
Engineering, metal engineering, railway engineering, marine engineering, aviation engineering	5.3
Road vehicle engineering, vehicle repair	2.6
Electronics, IT systems, office machines	4.7
Precision mechanics, optics, watch making	1.9
Iron, steel plate, metal, toy and jewellery manufacture	1.5
Wood working and processing, paper and pulp production/processing	3.4
Printing, reproduction	2.2
Textiles, clothing and leather industry	0.9
Food and luxury goods	5.6
Construction industry (main construction industry, sub construction work)	8.9
Betail trade (including mail order trade)	5.3
Wholesale and foreign trade	3.4
Communications and information transmission (including forwarding agencies, courier services)	1.5
Banking and insurance industry	4.3
Publishing advertising print and electronic media, radio and television	2.0
IT software service providers, technical and IT consultancy	3.7
Property and residential property asset management	0.5
Logal tax human resources, finance and husiness consultaney/investigation	0.5
	0.4
	2.2
	3.9
	3.0
Iourism, sport, fitness, leisure sector	1./
Other private services	2.7
Public services	8.1
Other	4.4
Federal state	
Former West Germany	80.3
Former East Germany	19.7
Trade and industry	50.0
	0.00
	25.1
	7.1
Liberal protessions	9.5
Stand along company	60.0
	00.0
	12.4
neauquarters of a group	4./
Other	16.1

Table A3

Nominally scaled variables: frequency distributions continued

Occupations*	%
Commercial Chamber of Commerce and Industry (CCI) occupations	22.2
Commercial CCI occupations	13.9
Technical CCI occupations in IT	3.8
Commercial CCI occupations in IT	3.4
Trade sector CCI occupations	3.7
Catering CCI occupations	4.0
Other CCI occupations	3.8
Metal and electrical Craft Trades (CT) occupations	10.0
Commercial CT occupations	3.1
Bricklayer CT	1.6
CT occupations in sub construction sector	3.4
Commercial CT occupations (baker, butcher)	3.3
Hairdresser	1.6
Other CT occupations (such as dental technician)	3.3
Agricultural occupations	3.4
Liberal professions: legal assistant and tax clerk	3.5
Liberal professions: medical and dental assistant	3.6
Technical occupations in the public sector	2.2
Commercial administration occupations in the public sector	6.3

* Companies providing training only.